
AGENDA 
Annual & General Meeting 

Wednesday June 26th, 2024 
4:30pm EDT 

2077 Ashburnham Drive, Peterborough, Ontario 
or 

via Zoom webinar (click to register) 

1. Call to Order
2. Report of Quorum, Count of Proxies
3. Minutes from Previous Meeting

a. Minutes of the Annual Meeting of Wednesday, April 19, 2023: For Approval
(attached)

4. Receipt of the Audited Financial Statements for 2023 (attached)
5. Appointment of Auditors
6. Election of Board of Directors
7. By-law Amendments
8. Consideration of any other business as may come before the meeting
9. Adjournment

The formal meeting will be followed by brief remarks by Kevin Malone, Chair, Board of 
Directors, as well as a presentation by Carolyn Hyslop, Executive Director, reflecting back on 
2023 and providing an overview of the exciting year ahead.   

Members who have been members in good standing for a period of at least 30 days 
immediately preceding the meeting shall have one vote. Members may vote in person at the 
meeting or by proxy. Proxy is attached. 

By Order of the Board of Directors 
Tim Rutherford, Secretary 
Dated at Peterborough, Ontario, this 5th day of June, 2024 

https://us02web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_6_F7Psm6QySd9UbzRAvECw


 

 

Annual and General Meeting Proxy 
 
 
The undersigned _____________________________________, a Member  
 
of The Canadian Canoe Museum (the Museum) hereby appoints  
 
____________________________________________________________ 
 
or, failing him/her, Tim Rutherford, the Secretary of the Museum, to attend, vote, and act for and on 
behalf of the undersigned at the Annual and General Meeting of the members of the Museum, to be 
held on Wednesday, June 26th, 2024 (the meeting).  
 
This appointment may be revoked by the undersigned at any time prior to the commencement of the 
meeting and will be deemed to have been revoked by a subsequent completed proxy or if the 
undersigned attends the meeting.  
 
This proxy must be signed and dated by the Member, or, if the Member is a corporation, the form of 
proxy must be executed under its corporate seal, or by an officer or attorney thereof duly authorized.  
 
 
Dated this _______ day of _______________, 2024. 
 
 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Name of Member (Please Print)         Signature of Member 
 
 
Please return the completed proxy by email (info@canoemuseum.ca), fax (705-748-0616) or by mail 
to: 
 
The Canadian Canoe Museum 
ATTN: Tim Rutherford, Secretary 
2077 Ashburnham Drive 
Peterborough, Ontario K9L 1P8 
 

mailto:info@canoemuseum.ca


 

 

The Canadian Canoe Museum Annual & General Meeting  
Meeting Minutes 

Wednesday April 19th, 2023 6:00pm 

Held via Zoom 

-DRAFT- 

1. Call to Order, Report of Quorum, Count of Proxies 
• The Chair, Victoria Grant, called the meeting to order at 6:05 pm. Quorum was 

confirmed (43 registered voters, 2 proxy). 
 

2. Approval of the AGM Agenda 
• A motion to approve the AGM Agenda was moved by Jocelyn Brown and seconded 

by Doris Stamml. The motion carried. 
 

3. Minutes from Previous meeting  
• Minutes of the Annual Meeting of Wednesday June 15th, 2022: Motion to approve 

the minutes from 2022 moved by Bryan Buttigieg and seconded by Doris Stamml. 
The motion carried.  

 
4. Audited Financial Statements  

• The 2022 Audited Financial Statements were received.  
• Tim Rutherford, Treasurer, reported that a clean audit was received from Grant 

Thornton. Substantial fundraising commitments were confirmed and received in 
2022, allowing for capital investment into the new museum on Little Lake, totalling 
$16 million of construction and project management work. 

• A motion to approve The Canadian Canoe Museum’s 2022 Audited Financial 
Statements was moved by Tim Rutherford and seconded by Kate Farnell. The 
motion carried. 

 
5. Appointment of Auditors  

• A motion to re-appoint Grant Thornton LLP as the audit firm for 2023 was moved 
by Tim Rutherford and seconded by Kate Farnell. The motion carried. 

 
6. Board of Directors  

• The Chair, Victoria Grant read the nominations for directors, commencing as of 
today’s date, to hold office until the expiry of their respective terms or until their 
successors are elected or appointed: 

 Tim Rutherford, Bryan Buttigieg, and Kate Farnell for a second term of two 
years;  

 Meredith Brown, and Brian Groves for a third term of two years; and 



 

 

 Jocelyn Brown for a fourth term of two years.  
• The Chair, Victoria Grant, declared the nominated to be duly elected directors of 

the Museum by acclamation.  
• Kevin Malone was welcomed as the incoming Chair of the Board. 
 

7. Updated Purpose of Incorporation 
The application got federal continuance will allow The Canadian Canoe Museum to 
become a federal not-for-profit corporation under the Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations 
Act. The Museum will remain a not-for-profit organization and retain its charitable 
registration status.  

 
To file the Articles of Continuance, an updated Purpose of Incorporation, to align with our 
current mission and work and updated for our current language, is required. 
 
A special resolution was presented to the members. 
 
Motion to Amend the Objects/Purposes of the Corporation 
BE IT RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT:  

A. The Directors of the Corporation are hereby directed to take all steps necessary seek 
the approval of the Amended Purposes by the Charities Directorate of the Canada 
Revenue Agency. 

B. Upon receipt of approval of the Amended Purposes from the Charities Directorate of 
the Canada Revenue Agency, the Purposes of the Corporation shall be the Amended 
Purposes.  

C. Upon approval of the Amended Purposes from the Charities Directorate Canada 
Revenue Agency, the Articles of the Corporation shall be amended as follows:  

  
“Statement of the Purpose of the Corporation: 

1.   Steward, promote and facilitate access to the Museum’s collection of canoes, 
kayaks, related artifacts and archival materials in a facility that meets the 
Canadian Class "A" Museum Environmental Control standards.  

2.   Provide educational opportunities through the creation and delivery of 
programming to audiences of all ages. 

3.   Reflect the wide and diverse perspectives revealed through the Museum’s 
ongoing research, outreach and collaborative relationship development with 
Indigenous and non-Indigenous knowledge holders.” 

 
D. The Directors of the Corporation are hereby directed to take all steps necessary and 

make all filings required to give effect to this Resolution, including amending the 
Articles. The Directors are further authorized to make minor changes to the 
Amended Purposes. 

 



 

 

A motion to approve the Special Resolution of the Members of The Canadian Canoe 
Museum Motion to Amend the Objects/Purposes of the Corporation was moved by Doris 
Stamml and seconded by John Ronson. The motion carried. 
 

8. Bylaw Amendments 
The recommended revisions to The Canadian Canoe Museum’s By-Laws to ensure good 
governance practices and to be in accordance with the requirements of the Canada Not 
For Profit Corporations Act were reviewed. 
 

9. Motion for Federal Continuance 
A special resolution to proceed with the federal continuance and approve the necessary 
By-Law amendments was presented to the members. 
 
Motion to Approve the Continuance of the Corporation under the Canada Not for Profit 
Corporations Act, S.C. 2009, c. 23 and Operational By-laws.   
 
WHEREAS the Corporation was incorporated under the Ontario Corporations Act by 
Letters Patent dated the 27th day of June 1975 as “Kanawa International Museum”; 
 
AND WHEREAS those Letters Patent were amended by Supplementary Letters Patent 
dated the 2nd day of February, 1991 changing the name to “The Canadian Canoe 
Museum:’; 
 
AND WHEREAS it is considered to be in the best interests of the Corporation that the 
Corporation be continued as a federal not-for-profit corporation, governed by the Canada 
Not-for-profit Corporations Act, S.C. 2009, c. 23 (the “NFP Act”); 
 
AND WHEREAS the Members have resolved, subject to the approval of the Charities 
Directorate of the Canada Revenue Agency, to amend the Corporation’s Objects and 
Purposes so that they read as follows: 
 
“Statement of the Purpose of the Corporation: 

1. Steward, promote and facilitate access to the Museum’s collection of canoes, 
kayaks, related artifacts and archival materials in a facility that meets the 
Canadian Class "A" Museum Environmental Control standards.  

2. Provide educational opportunities through the creation and delivery of 
programming to audiences of all ages. 

3. Reflect the wide and diverse perspectives revealed through the Museum’s 
ongoing research, outreach and collaborative relationship development with 
Indigenous and non-Indigenous knowledge holders.” (the “Amended Purposes”) 

 
AND WHEREAS it is considered to be in the best interests of the Corporation that the 
Operational By-laws of the Corporation be updated to comply with the NFP Act. 



 

 

BE IT RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT:  
 
A. Upon receiving approval of the Amended Purposes by the Charities Directorate of the 
Canada Revenue Agency, the Directors of the Corporation are authorized and directed to 
make an application under Subsection 211(1) of the NFP Act to the Director appointed 
under the NFP Act for a Certificate of Continuance of the Corporation.  
 
B. The Articles of Continuance (import) of the Corporation, which have been submitted to 
this meeting and are annexed to these minutes as Annex 1, are approved.  
 
C. The current by-laws of the Corporation are repealed effective on this date and the new 
general operating By-law No. 1 which has been submitted to this meeting and is annexed 
to these minutes as Annex 2 is approved and will be effective on the same date.  
 
D. Any one of the officers or directors of the Corporation is authorized to take all such 
actions and execute and deliver all such documentation, including the annexed Articles of 
Continuance (import) and the notice of registered office and of directors in the forms fixed 
by the Director, which are necessary or desirable for the implementation of this 
resolution.  
 
A motion to approve the Special Resolution of the Members of The Canadian Canoe 
Museum Motion to approve the Continuance of the Corporation under the Canada Not for 
Profit Corporations Act, S.C. 2009, c. 23 and Operational By-laws was moved by Doris 
Stamml and seconded by John Ronson. The motion carried. 
 

10. Annual Report Overview 
• The Chair, Victoria Grant, explained that the 2022 Annual Report will be available 

and circulated at a later date. 
 

11. No other business was brought forward.  
 

12. Motion to adjourn the meeting was made by Brian Groves; seconded by Meredith 
Brown. The motion carried, and the meeting adjourned at 6:40 pm. 

  
 



 

 

Financial Statements

The Canadian Canoe Museum

December 31, 2023
 



 

 
The Canadian Canoe Museum

Contents
 

Page

Independent Auditor's Report 1 - 3

Statement of Financial Position 4 - 5

Statement of Changes in Fund Balances 6

Statement of Operations 7

Statement of Cash Flows 8

Notes to the Financial Statements 9 - 22



Independent Auditor's Report
Grant Thornton LLP
102-127 Hunter Street East
Peterborough, ON
K9H 1G7

T +1 705 743 5020
F +1 705 743 5081
www.GrantThornton.ca

To the Members of 
The Canadian Canoe Museum 

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of The Canadian Canoe Museum (the "Museum"), which comprise the statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2023, and the statements of operations, changes in fund balances and cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Museum as
at December 31, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.
 
Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Museum in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
 
Emphasis of Matter - Restated Comparative Information

We draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements, which describes that certain comparative information presented for the year
ended December 31, 2022 has been restated. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

 

Audit | Tax | Advisory
© Grant Thornton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd 1



Independent Auditor's Report (continued)
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Museum’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Museum or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Museum’s financial reporting process.
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements. As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and

perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Museum's internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Museum's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Museum to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 

Audit | Tax | Advisory
© Grant Thornton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd 2



Independent Auditor's Report (continued)
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
 

Peterborough, Canada
April 17, 2024

Chartered Professional Accountants
               Licensed Public Accountants

 

Audit | Tax | Advisory
© Grant Thornton LLP. A Canadian Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd 3



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Statement of Financial Position

Total

December 31
Operating

Fund 
New Museum

Fund
Total
2023

2022
(Restated)

 

Assets
Current

Cash $ 295,160 $ 2,068,623 $ 2,363,783 $ 5,754,341
Interfund loans  (Note 5) 22,388 (22,388) - -
Investments  (Note 6) 510,662 1,500,000 2,010,662 4,500,000
Accounts receivable 21,634 676,740 698,374 602,228
Grants receivable - 133,457 133,457 2,634,976
Inventory 61,086 - 61,086 55,010
Prepaid expenses 10,288 172,370 182,658 320,387

 921,218 4,528,802 5,450,020 13,866,942
Capital assets  (Note 7) 2,757,966 - 2,757,966 3,156,791
Capital assets - new museum development costs  (Note 8) 30,384,990 6,560,570 36,945,560 17,980,969
Intangible asset  (Note 9) 45,346 - 45,346 -
Artifacts 1,329,611 - 1,329,611 1,329,301
 

 $ 35,439,131 $ 11,089,372 $ 46,528,503 $ 36,334,003
 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 4



The Canadian Canoe Museum
Statement of Financial Position

Total

December 31
Operating

Fund 
New Museum

Fund
Total
2023

2022
(Restated)

 

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 59,753 $ 5,639,216 $ 5,698,969 $ 3,694,812
Deferred revenue  (Note 10) 532,079 - 532,079 520,396
Short-term debt  (Note 12) 1,647,843 1,000,000 2,647,843 1,655,508
Current portion of asset retirement obligation  (Note 13) 75,471 - 75,471 73,991

 2,315,146 6,639,216 8,954,362 5,944,707
 
Asset retirement obligation  (Note 13) 1,063,063 - 1,063,063 1,057,805

 3,378,209 6,639,216 10,017,425 7,002,512
Fund balances

Unrestricted 406,158 - 406,158 814,058
Internally restricted - invested in capital assets 31,654,764 - 31,654,764 19,636,248
Internally restricted - other - 821,266 821,266 610,229
Externally restricted - 3,628,890 3,628,890 8,270,956

 

 32,060,922 4,450,156 36,511,078 29,331,491
  

 

 $ 35,439,131 $ 11,089,372 $ 46,528,503 $ 36,334,003
 

Commitments and contingencies  (Note 15)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 5



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Statement of Changes in Fund Balances

 

Year ended December 31
Operating

Fund

Internally
Restricted -
Invested in

Capital Assets

Internally
Restricted -

Other
Externally
Restricted

Total
2023

Total
2022

 

 
Balance, beginning of year $ 730,549 $ 19,636,248 $ 610,229 $ 8,270,956 $ 29,247,982 $ 13,955,699

Prior period restatement  (Note 2) 83,509 - - - 83,509 40,531

 
Balance, beginning of year - as restated 814,058 19,636,248 610,229 8,270,956 29,331,491 13,996,230

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures (602,775) - - 7,782,362 7,179,587 15,335,261

Interfund transfers  (Note 5) 194,875 12,018,516 211,037 (12,424,428) - -
  

 

Balance, end of year $ 406,158 $ 31,654,764 $ 821,266 $ 3,628,890 $ 36,511,078 $ 29,331,491
  

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 6



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Statement of Operations

 

Operating New Museum Total Total
Year ended December 31  Fund Fund 2023 2022

(Restated)
 

 
Revenues

Donations and fundraising $ 82,330 $ 5,272,169 $ 5,354,499 $ 4,488,434
Grants 170,789 3,306,718 3,477,507 11,959,564
Interest income 225,940 - 225,940 22,185
Retail sales 48,931 - 48,931 102,194
Membership 8,780 - 8,780 17,416
Admissions 2,819 - 2,819 62,656
Courses - - - 4,564
Rentals and events - - - 4,177

 539,589 8,578,887 9,118,476 16,661,190
  

 

Expenditures
Wages and contract staff  (Note 14) 400,316 - 400,316 606,474
Exhibition development  (Note 14) - 241,393 241,393 189,963
Operating and administration  (Note 14) 94,240 419,192 513,432 250,062
Transitional costs  (Note 14) - 132,593 132,593 112,667
Facilities 129,218 - 129,218 132,760
Retail cost of sales 30,112 - 30,112 57,735
Interest accretion  (Note 13) 25,757 - 25,757 26,022
Fundraising 356 3,347 3,703 32,082
Amortization 76,552 - 76,552 85,869

 

 756,551 796,525 1,553,076 1,493,634

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures before the
undernoted (216,962) 7,782,362 7,565,400 15,167,556
 
Other income (expenses)

Impairment of capital assets  (Note 7) (385,813) - (385,813) -
Government assistance - COVID-19 - - - 206,256
Write-off of capital assets no longer in use - - - (38,551)

 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures $ (602,775) $ 7,782,362 $ 7,179,587 $ 15,335,261
  

 

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 7



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Statement of Cash Flows

 

Year ended December 31
Operating

Fund
New Museum

Fund
Total
2023

Total
2022

(Restated)
 

Increase (decrease) in cash
Operating 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures $ (602,775) $ 7,782,362 $ 7,179,587 $ 15,335,261
Items not affecting cash

Amortization 76,552 - 76,552 85,869
Gifts-in-kind - capital assets (310) (104,622) (104,932) (33,300)
Interfund transfer for investment income (211,037) 211,037 - -
Impairment of capital assets 385,813 - 385,813 -
Write-off of capital assets - - - 38,551
Interest accretion 25,757 - 25,757 26,022

 

 (326,000) 7,888,777 7,562,777 15,452,403
Change in non-cash working capital items

Accounts receivable (14,603) (81,545) (96,148) (344,416)
Grants receivable - 2,501,519 2,501,519 (793,665)
Inventory (6,075) - (6,075) 5,480
Prepaid expenses (3,188) 140,917 137,729 (266,835)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 19,969 (4,576,382) (4,556,413) (274,532)
Deferred revenue  11,683 - 11,683 426,636

 (318,214) 5,873,286 5,555,072 14,205,071
  

 

Investing
Purchase of capital assets (56,143) (12,319,806) (12,375,949) (10,738,318)
Purchase of investments (1,010,662) (2,500,000) (3,510,662) (4,500,000)
Redemption of investments 500,000 5,500,000 6,000,000 1,249,167
Payments of asset retirement obligation (19,019) - (19,019) (69,000)

 

 (585,824) (9,319,806) (9,905,630) (14,058,151)

Financing
Loan (payments) advances (40,000) 1,000,000 960,000 -
Interfund loan issuance (repayment) 529,987 (529,987) - -

 

 489,987 470,013 960,000 -

Increase (decrease) in cash (414,051) (2,976,507) (3,390,558) 146,920
Cash, beginning of year 709,211 5,045,130 5,754,341 5,607,421
Cash, end of year $ 295,160 $ 2,068,623 $ 2,363,783 $ 5,754,341

 

    

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 8



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

1. Nature of entity

The Canadian Canoe Museum (the "Museum") is a registered charity serving the people of Canada and visitors from around the world. Its
mission is to explore the canoe in its historical and cultural contexts.

The Museum was incorporated without share capital on February 22, 1991 and as such is prohibited from distributing any of its funds to, or
for personal benefit of, its members.  The Museum is registered as a charitable organization under the Federal and Ontario Income Tax Act
(Canada) and, as such, is exempt from income taxes and is able to issue donation receipts for income tax purposes.

2. Restated comparative information

The prior year comparative figures have been restated for the following matters. 
 
(a) During the year, the Museum noted that a purchase of land for its new museum facility completed in fiscal 2021 through a vendor take-

back mortgage was not recorded in the financial statements. The land should have been recorded in capital assets, and the vendor
take-back mortgage should have been recognized as a liability. The total purchase price and amount of the vendor take-back mortgage
was $1,575,200.  Additionally, the interest accruing on the mortgage, totaling $40,308 as at December 31, 2022, should have been
capitalized as part of the construction in progress asset in accordance with the Museum’s accounting policies. The impacts of this
restatement are recorded within the new museum fund balances.

(b) During the year, the Museum determined that an asset retirement obligation should have been recorded effective January 1, 2021 in
respect of the contamination on the Museum’s property caused by activities of the former owner. In prior periods, the Museum recorded
amounts spent on remediation activities as an expense when incurred. The impacts of this restatement are recorded within the
operating fund balances. 

As a result of these corrections, the following adjustments were made retrospectively to the Museum’s financial statements for the
comparative period.

9



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

2. Restated comparative information (continued)

Previously
Reported Adjustment

Restated
Amount

Statement of Financial Position
Capital assets (b) $ 1,941,486 $ 1,215,305 $ 3,156,791
Capital assets - new museum development costs (a) 16,365,461 1,615,508 17,980,969
Short term debt (a) 40,000 1,615,508 1,655,508
Current portion of asset retirement obligation (b) - 73,991 73,991
Asset retirement obligation (b) - 1,057,805 1,057,805
Operating fund balance, unrestricted, end of year (b) 730,549 83,509 814,058

Statement of Changes in Fund Balances - Operating Fund
Operating fund, beginning of year (b) 1,000,754 40,531 1,041,285
Deficiency of revenues over expenditures (b) (248,690) 42,978 (205,712)
Operating fund, end of year (b) 730,549 83,509 814,058

Statement of Operations - Operating Fund
Facilities (b) 201,760 (69,000) 132,760
Interest accretion (b) - 26,022 26,022
Deficiency of revenues over expenditures (b) (248,690) 42,978 (205,712)

Statement of Cash Flows - Operating Fund
Deficiency of revenues over expenditures (b) (248,690) 42,978 (205,712)
Interest accretion (b) - 26,022 26,022
Payments of asset retirement obligation (b) - (69,000) (69,000)

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations. The significant
policies are detailed as follows:

10



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Fund accounting

In order to ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of the resources available to the Museum, the accounts are
maintained in accordance with the principles of fund accounting. The Museum uses the restricted fund method of accounting for its
contributions. Under this method, the Museum reports the use of its resources in one of two funds as follows:

i. The operating fund accounts for the Museum's ongoing operating and administrative activities. This fund reports unrestricted resources
and restricted operating grants.

ii. The new museum fund reports the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenditures related to the new museum development project.
Capital assets that are purchased for the new museum are recorded in the new museum fund and are transferred to the operating fund
when they are paid for. 

Cash

Cash consists of bank balances, petty cash and term deposits with a maturity period of three months or less from the date of acquisition.

Investments

Investments which mature within twelve months of the fiscal year end are classified as short-term. The remainder of the investments are
classified as long term.

Inventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method. Net realizable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business. Inventories are written down to net realizable value when the cost of
inventories is not estimated to be recoverable. 

Capital assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost. Contributed capital assets are recorded at fair value at the date of contribution. Where constructed by
the Museum, the cost also includes direct construction or development costs, such as materials and labour. Carrying costs, consisting of
interest costs, directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or development of a capital asset are capitalized to the cost of the asset.
Capitalization of carrying costs ceases when the capital asset is substantially complete and ready for productive use. 

The Museum provides for amortization using the straight-line method at rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets over their
estimated useful lives, once they are in use. The annual amortization rates are as follows:

11



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Capital assets (continued)

Buildings 10-40 years
Museum exhibits 10 years
Equipment and exhibit studio 10 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Vehicles 5 years

Capital assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in the circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. If the total of the estimated undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset, an impairment loss is
recognized for the excess of the carrying value over the fair value of the asset during the year the impairment occurs.

Intangible assets

The Museum has elected to capitalize website development costs as the costs meet the criteria as an internally generated asset. The
capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of 5 years once the asset comes into use.  

An intangible asset subject to amortization is tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The Museum recognizes an impairment loss on intangible assets subject to amortization when the carrying
amount is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value.

Artifacts

The Museum currently holds more than 600 canoes, kayaks and paddled watercraft. Items purchased for the collection are recorded at cost,
while contributed items are recorded at fair value. Due to the nature of the artifacts, and the Museum's obligation to preserve these assets in
perpetuity, they are not subject to amortization. 

12



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Asset retirement obligation 

An asset retirement obligation is a legal obligation associated with the retirement of a tangible long-lived asset that the Museum will be
required to settle. The Museum recognizes asset retirement obligations in the period incurred if management can make a reasonable
estimate of the obligation. Asset retirement obligations are initially measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the statement of financial position date. Asset retirement obligations are recorded as liabilities with a corresponding
increase to the carrying amount of the associated long-lived assets. The obligation is adjusted to reflect period-to-period changes in the
liability resulting from the passage of time, revisions to either the timing or the amount of the original estimate of the undiscounted cash flows
or the discount rate and amounts spent on remediation activities. 

Revenue and expenditure recognition

Revenues and expenditures are recorded on an accrual basis. The Museum follows the restricted fund method of accounting for
contributions. Contributions include grants, donations and fundraising. Unrestricted contributions and restricted contributions, when there is a
separate related restricted fund, are recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the amount can be reasonably estimated and
collection is reasonably assured. Restricted contributions for which there is no separate restricted fund are recognized as revenue in the
operating fund in the period in which the related expenses are incurred. Other operating revenues are recognized when received or
receivable if the product has been provided, the service has been rendered, the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and
collection is reasonably assured.  

Interest income is recognized as revenue of the appropriate fund, based on any donor restrictions, in the year in which it is earned.

Pledges are not recognized as revenue.

Contributed materials and services

Contributions of materials are recognized in the financial statements at fair value at the date of contribution when a fair value can be
reasonably estimated, when the materials are used in the normal course of operations, and when the materials would otherwise have been
purchased. During the year, the Museum received $104,622 (2022 - $33,300) in contributed materials and $310 (2022 - $Nil) in contributed
artifacts.

Some members and supporters of the Museum have donated significant amounts of time in furthering the Museum's programs and
objectives. These contributed services are not recognized in the financial statements due to the difficulty in determining the fair value of
these services.

13



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Use of estimates

Management reviews the carrying value of items in the financial statements at each reporting date to assess the need for revisions or any
possibility of impairment. Management determines estimates based on assumptions that reflect the most probable set of economic
conditions and planned courses of action. Estimates are reviewed periodically and adjustments are made to revenues and expenditures, as
appropriate, in the year they become known. The most significant items that involve the use of estimates are inventory valuation, the useful
life of capital assets and intangible assets and the valuation of asset retirement obligation.

Government assistance

Government assistance received is recorded as other income in the statement of operations when related expenditures are incurred.

Financial instruments

The Museum considers any contract creating a financial asset, liability or equity instrument as a financial instrument, except in certain limited
circumstances.  The Museum accounts for the following as financial instruments:

-        cash
-        investments
-        accounts receivable
-        accounts payable
-        short-term debt

A financial asset or liability is recognized when the Museum becomes a party to contractual provision of the instrument. 

The Museum initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value.

The Museum subsequently measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost.

The Museum removes financial liabilities, or a portion of, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial assets measured at cost are tested for impairment when there are indicators of impairment. Previously recognized impairment
losses are reversed to the extent of the improvement provided the asset is not carried at an amount, at the date of reversal, greater than the
amount that would have been the carrying amount had no impairment loss been recognized previously. The amounts of any write-downs or
reversals are recognized in net income. 

14



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

4. Financial instruments risks

The Museum is exposed to various risks associated with its financial instruments as described below. Unless otherwise noted, there has
been no change in risk exposure from the prior year.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an
obligation. The Museum is exposed to credit risk on the accounts receivable from its customers. The maximum exposure to credit risk
is the carrying value of accounts receivable.  The allowance for doubtful accounts is $Nil (2022 - $Nil).

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Museum will not be able to meet its obligations associated with financial liabilities. Although the Museum
has currently ceased regular operations as it develops a new museum, it continues to receive funding from grants and contributions to
meet its cash requirements. Additional cash requirements are met with the use of investments, credit facility as described in Note 11,
and available loans as described in Note 12.

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest
rates. The Museum is subject to interest rate risk on its investment with a floating interest rate. Changes in interest rates may cause
fluctuations in the value of investments and future cash flows. The Museum’s promissory note and mortgage loan bear interest at fixed
rates, and thus the Museum is not subject to interest rate risk in respect of these debt facilities. 

15



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

5. Interfund loans and transfers 

Interfund loans are non-interest bearing with no set terms of repayment.

Interfund transfers during the year were as follows:

Operating

Internally
Restricted -

Capital

Internally
Restricted -

Other
Externally
Restricted

Capital asset purchases $ (56,143) $ 12,375,949 $ - $ (12,319,806)
Gifts-in-kind - capital assets (310) 104,932 - (104,622)
Amortization expense 76,552 (76,552) - -
Interest income (211,037) - 211,037 -
Impairment of capital assets 385,813 (385,813) - - 

$ 194,875 $ 12,018,516 $ 211,037 $ (12,424,428)

6. Investments

Investments consist of two guaranteed investment certificates, maturing on April 1, 2024 and December 16, 2024. The interest rate on the
investment maturing in April 2024 is 4.30% per annum, and the interest rate on the investment maturing in December 2024 is prime
(December 31, 2023 - 7.20%) minus 2.00% per annum.

Prior year investments consisted of two guaranteed investment certificates, which matured on January 19, 2023 and October 21, 2023. The
interest rate on the investment which matured in January 2023 was 3.85% per annum, and the interest rate on the investment which
matured in October 2023 was prime (December 31, 2022 - 6.45%) minus 2.00% per annum. 

16



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

7. Capital assets
 

2023 2023 2022 2022
Cost Accumulated Cost Accumulated

Amortization (Restated) Amortization
 

Land $ 2,113,872 $ - $ 2,113,872 $ -
Buildings 2,387,668 1,786,235 2,722,954 1,721,333
Equipment 65,955 42,346 65,955 35,750
Museum exhibits 10,300 6,695 10,300 5,665
Vehicles 45,668 45,668 45,668 45,518
Computer equipment 109,667 94,220 96,656 90,348

 

4,733,130 1,975,164 5,055,405 1,898,614

Net book value $ 2,757,966 $ 3,156,791

As described in Note 15 (d), the Museum entered into a conditional agreement on April 20, 2023 to sell its property located at 910 Monaghan
Road. The Museum classified the land and building to be sold as part of this conditional agreement as held for sale as at this date. As a
result, the Museum measured the land and building at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, resulting in an
impairment loss of $385,813 being recognized. As the building was classified as held for sale, it was no longer subject to amortization
subsequent to April 20, 2023.

 

17



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

8. New museum development

New museum development costs consist of land, construction in progress and other assets purchased for future use at the new museum
location. No amortization has been recorded on these assets as they are not yet in use. The land on which the new museum is being
developed is subject to an option agreement whereby the seller has the right to repurchase under certain conditions under the Museum's
control. All but one of these conditions has expired. Management expects the final condition to expire in 2024. Interest of $32,335 (2022 -
$40,308) was capitalized to construction in progress during the year. 

2023
2022

(Restated)

Land $ 1,616,400 $ 1,575,200
Construction in progress 35,159,422 16,331,251
Furniture and equipment 169,738 74,518 

$ 36,945,560 $ 17,980,969

9. Intangible asset

The Museum is developing a new website which is not yet available for use as of December 31, 2023. The expenditures incurred on the
website have been classified as an intangible asset and will be amortized once available for use.

18



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

10. Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue includes amounts for memberships, other services to be provided in a future period and unspent donations and grants to
be used for certain aspects of the Museum's operations.  The continuity of this funding is summarized as follows:

Program
Fund

Memberships
and other Total 2023 Total 2022

Balance - beginning of year $ 500,000 $ 20,396 $ 520,396 $ 93,760
Contributions and funds received 10,662 16,817 27,479 634,205
Funding spent and revenue recognized - (15,796) (15,796) (207,569) 

Balance - end of year $ 510,662 $ 21,417 $ 532,079 $ 520,396

11. Credit facility

The Museum obtained an operating line of credit with Royal Bank of Canada during the year with a credit limit of $100,000. Advances bear
interest at prime (December 31, 2023 - 7.20%) plus 1.19% per annum, are repayable on demand and are secured by a general security
agreement. No advances have been made as of December 31, 2023. 

19



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

12. Short-term debt

2023
2022

(Restated)

Mortgage loan, interest at 2% per annum, principal and interest due on maturity (see below), secured by
land $ 1,647,843 $ 1,615,508

Promissory note from an individual up to $5 million, interest at 6.5% per annum payable quarterly, principal
payable in full on or before December 31, 2024, unsecured 1,000,000 -

Canada Emergency Business Account loan - 40,000 

$ 2,647,843 $ 1,655,508

The mortgage loan matures when the sale of the property located at 910 Monaghan Road is completed, or 60 days following the date on
which the agreement of purchase and sale is terminated if the buyer's conditions are not satisfied. As stated in Note 15 (d), this sale is
conditional and is to be either finalized or cancelled no later than April 2025.

20



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

13. Asset retirement obligation

The Museum recognized an asset retirement obligation in respect of the contamination on the Museum’s property, located at 910 Monaghan
Road, caused by activities of the former owner. The details of the asset retirement obligation balance are as follows:

2023
2022

(Restated)

Balance, beginning of year $ 1,131,796 $ 1,174,774
Interest accretion expense 25,757 26,022
Remediation payments made (19,019) (69,000)

Balance, end of year 1,138,534 1,131,796
Less: current portion (75,471) (73,991) 

Long-term obligation $ 1,063,063 $ 1,057,805

14. Allocated expenses
 
The Museum employs individuals that perform work that is directly attributable for both general operations and the development of the new
museum. Wages and benefits for these individuals are allocated to the operating fund and the new museum fund based on a direct
proportion of the time spent on the aforementioned activities. The wages and benefits allocated to the new museum fund during the year
were $541,989 (2022 - $243,780), allocated as $309,869 (2022 - $57,557) to operating and administration, $143,222 (2022 - $108,062) to
exhibition development, and $88,898 (2022 - $78,161) to transitional costs. These costs have been allocated to the expenditure line related
to the type of work performed rather than to the wages and contract staff, which is consistent with the prior year. Additionally, $75,600 (2022
- $Nil) of wages relating directly to construction activities was capitalized to new museum development costs.

21



 

The Canadian Canoe Museum
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2023
 

15. Commitments and contingencies

(a) The Museum entered into a contract for the construction of the new museum for an amount of $27.3 million in the year ended
December 31, 2021. During construction, to ensure the new museum was completed as intended, the Museum approved a $6.4 million
increase in the contract's Final Target Cost. This increase to the contract's Final Target Cost represents an amendment to the original
contract, without waiving any rights the Museum has under the contract, and at law. The outstanding commitment as at December 31,
2023 is $2.5 million (2022  - $12.4 million). 

(b) The Museum has entered into a contract with Ontario Clean Water Agency to perform the remediation activities required to be
undertaken on the contaminated property located at 910 Monaghan Road.  The contract renews on an annual basis in October.  At
December 31, 2023, Museum is committed to $57,200 (2022 - $55,200) in respect of ongoing remediation activities. 

(c) The Museum has entered into a contract for the purchase of equipment to be used at the new museum for an amount of $195,960. The
outstanding commitment as at December 31, 2023 is $146,970 (2022 - $195,960).

(d) The Museum accepted a conditional offer on the sale of its property located at 910 Monaghan Road. The sale has not been finalized.
The sale of the property must be finalized or cancelled no later than April 2025, and management does not expect the termination
conditions to occur in that time. 

(e) As disclosed in Note 8, the land on which the new museum is being developed is subject to an option agreement whereby the seller has
the right to repurchase under certain conditions.  Management does not expect the conditions to occur.

16. Subsequent events

(a) Subsequent to year-end, the Museum entered into contracts for certain costs relating to the new museum for an amount of $71,290
plus HST.

(b) Subsequent to year end, the Museum approved a $1.2 million increase in the Final Target Cost of the contract for the construction of
the new museum. This increase is in addition to the amount described in Note 15 (a), and represents an amendment to the original
contract, without waiving any rights the Museum has under the contract, and at law.

22



Nominees to the Board of Directors 2024

Nominees for election to a first two-year term as a Director:

Ellisa Johnson
Aaniin / Boozhoo.  Hello and greetings.  My name is Ellisa Johnson (CatawiigwaamunKwe) 
and I am a citizen of Pemadeshkodeyong (Hiawatha) First Nation on the north shore of Rice 
Lake.  

I am humbled by having had my name put forth to join the Board for the Canadian Canoe 
Museum as I have enjoyed the museum for several years and have a great appreciation for 
the openness and inclusiveness not only of your services within the community at large but 
also for the incredible staff who support those services.

I have a Social Service Worker diploma from Sir Sandford Fleming College and a Bachelor of 
Social Work earned from the University of Western Ontario.  As a result of this formal 
education, I have a list of employment positions that start with working in group homes and 
various organizations providing helping services within Peterborough and the surrounding 
areas.  I have held positions with Curve Lake, Alderville, Hiawatha, and Scugog First Nations. 

I had the privilege of working for Health Canada as a senior policy analyst with the Women’s 
Health Directorate and in that work, I was able to focus on Indigenous women’s health and 
gender-based analysis.  For the past 20 years, I have worked both as an independent 
facilitator as well as a contractor for Correctional Service Canada.  I have worked in most of 
the federal prisons in Ontario conducting Elder services working directly with Indigenous 
Offenders.  In 2022 I took on the first-ever position in my First Nation as the Cultural 
Coordinator for the Nation.  This has been some of the most relevant and important work that 
I have had the privilege of undertaking.  I brought awareness to my own people of the 
importance of culture, the ability to bring positive ways into not only our service delivery but to 
our minds and thought processes as we begin to reimagine what our governance, 
infrastructure and methodologies come from the awareness and inclusion of Michi Saagiig 
philosophies and spirituality.

My belief in my culture and the requirement to share this understanding gives me the impetus 
to submit my application to be a member of the board for the Canoe Museum. I am a strong 
Anishnaabe Kwe and this is what gives me the drive to share my culture for the benefit of all 
peoples not just other Anishnaabeg. 



Chris MacLean                   
A resourceful global procurement professional with over 40 years 
experience with leading fortune 500 companies including his last 
positions with Molson Coors Brewing Company as past Senior 
Director Global Procurement & Head of Procurement, Canada. 
Chris’s background includes familiarity and expertise in contract 
management, risk management of commodities, mergers & 
acquisitions, managing budgets for large capital projects and the 
purchase of brewing & packaging materials across a global footprint. 

As a change leader, Chris continues to consult on a part-time basis with small businesses & 
start-ups in and around the Peterborough area. Chris’s latest consulting engagement was 
providing a supporting role as Project Manager for the new Canadian Canoe Museum build. 

A canoe enthusiast throughout his life, Chris has many fond memories canoeing at the family 
cottage in Muskoka or attending many summers at camp as an avid canoe tripper at Camp 
Ahmek, a Taylor Statten camp in Algonquin Park and continues as supporting alumni in the 
growth of Rosseau Lake College, an outdoor school, in Muskoka. Chris currently resides in 
Peterborough.

Guillaume Rivest     
From Abitibi-Témiscamingue, in northwestern Quebec, Guillaume 
Rivest grew up in the countryside and discovered the joys of 
canoeing from a young age. An avid outdoorsman, he goes camping, 
climbing, canoeing, kayaking, cycling, and cross-country skiing. 
Guillaume is an instructor for the Canoe-Kayak Federation and an 
instructor for the “société de sauvetage”.

Guillaume holds a bachelor's degree in applied politics and a 
master's degree in environmental science. During his studies, he 

lived for four months in Peru as part of an internship and was an observer at the United 
Nations Conference on Climate Change in Paris in 2015.

After spending a year as a journalist at Radio-Canada, Guillaume decided to start his own 
business and is co-owner and general manager of Exode Bâtisseur d’Adventures, an outdoor 
expedition company based in Abitibi-Témiscamingue. When not guiding, Guillaume is 
freelance journalist and columnist specializing in the environment and outdoors for media 
outlets such as Radio-Canada, Beside Media, Géopleinair, and Mountain Life.



Nominees for re-election as a Director:

Name Term Position
Doris Stamml Year 1 of second term Director
Garth Wallbridge Year 1 of second term Director
Victoria Grant Year 1 of fourth term Past Chair and Governance & Nominating 

Committee Chair
Jenny Ingram Year 1 of fourth term Director
Kevin Malone Year 1 of fourth term Chair

CCM Directors continuing in 2024:

Name Position
Meg Beckel Director
Bryan Buttigieg Director and Building Committee Chair
Kate Farnell Director
Tim Rutherford Secretary-Treasurer and Finance & Audit Committee Chair
Meredith Brown Director and Philanthropy Committee Chair
Brian Groves Director and Collections Committee Chair
Jocelyn Brown Director



 
 

 
Bylaw Amendments 

 
The Governance and Nominating Committee has recommended these revisions to ensure good 
governance practices. 
 
The changes include: 
2.01 Election and Term and Number 
The minimum number of Directors shall be at least twelve (12) and no more than eighteen (18). 
 



 
 
 
 

THE CANADIAN CANOE MUSEUM 
 
 
Mission: With our world-class collection as a catalyst, The Canadian 
Canoe Museum inspires connection, curiosity and new understanding. 
  
The organization's vision speaks to its aspiration to contribute to Canada 
— from a perspective that is uniquely its own, as the stewards of a world-
class collection and national cultural asset.  
  
Vision: Canadian heritage connecting all peoples to the land and to each 
other. 

  



 
 
 

 

 

 

 

GENERAL OPERATING BY-LAW 

OF 

THE CANADIAN CANOE MUSEUM 
 

(DRAFT VERSION June 2024) 

 

 
  



 
 
 

BY-LAW NO. 1  

A by-law relating generally to the conduct of the affairs of 

THE CANADIAN CANOE MUSEUM 
(the "Corporation") 

 

  Section 1 – General 
 

1.01 Definitions   
 
In this by-law, unless the context otherwise requires: 

 
1. "Act" means the Corporations Act (Ontario) until such time as the Ontario Not-for-

Profit Corporations Act becomes effective and the Ontario Not for Profit 
Corporations Act, 2010, when effective, and where the context requires, includes 
the regulations made under it, as amended or re-enacted from time to time.  In 
the event the Corporation is continued under the Canada Not of Profit 
Corporations Act S. C. 2009, c. 23 then “Act” shall mean the Canada Not of Profit 
Corporations Act S. C. 2009, c. 23 and shall include the regulations made under 
it, as amended or re-enacted from time to time; 
 

2. “Ancillary Matters” means minor governance or procedural issues, which for 
greater certainty, shall not include any financial matter; 
 

3. “Articles” means the letters patent of the Corporation, the articles, or restated 
articles of incorporation or articles of amendment, amalgamation, continuance, 
reorganization, arrangement or revival of the Corporation; 

4. "Board" means the board of directors of the Corporation; 

5. "By-laws" means this by-law (including the schedules to this by-law) and all other 
by-laws of the Corporation as amended and which are, from time to time, in force; 

6. "Chair" means the chair of the Board; 

7. "Corporation" means The Canadian Canoe Museum; 

8. "Director" means an individual occupying the position of director of the 
Corporation by whatever name he or she is called; 



 
 
 

9. “Excluded Person” means any employee of the Corporation;  

10. "Member" means a member of the Corporation; 

11. "Members" means the collective membership of the Corporation; 

12. "Officer" means an officer of the Corporation. 

13. “Resolution” means a resolution passed by a majority of those entitled to vote at 
a Meeting of the Members or Meeting of the Directors, as the case may be. 

14. “Tele-Conference” means the use of the telephone, the internet or other 
communication facilities to enable participants in a meeting to participate 
simultaneously and instantaneously with those physically present at a meeting; 

15. “Special Resolution” means a resolution passed by a two-thirds majority of those 
entitled to vote at a Meeting of the Members of Meeting of the Directors, as the 
case may be; and 

16. “Video-Conference” means the use of communications facilities which enables 
participants in a meeting to participate simultaneously and instantaneously with 
those physically present at a meeting with sound and vision. 

1.02 Interpretation   

Other than as specified in Section 1.01, all terms contained in this by-law that are 
defined in the Act shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Act.  Words 
importing the singular include the plural and vice versa, and words importing one 
gender include all genders. 

1.03 Severability and Precedence 

The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this By-law shall not affect the 
validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this By-law. If any of the 
provisions contained in the By-laws are inconsistent with those contained in the 
Articles or the Act, the provisions contained in the Articles or the Act, as the case may 
be, shall prevail. 

1.04 Seal 
 
The seal of the Corporation, if any, shall be in the form determined by the Board. 
 



 
 
 

1.05 Execution of Contracts 

Deeds, transfers, assignments, contracts, obligations and other instruments in writing 
requiring execution by the Corporation may be signed by any two of its Officers or 
Directors. In addition, the Board may from time to time direct the manner in which and 
the person by whom a particular document or type of document shall be 
executed.  Any person authorized to sign any document may affix the corporate seal, 
if any, to the document.  Any Director or Officer may certify a copy of any instrument, 
resolution, by-law or other document of the Corporation to be a true copy thereof.  

  Section 2 – Directors 
 
2.01 Election and Term and Number 

The Directors shall be elected by the Members. The term of office of the Directors 
(subject to the provisions, if any, of the Articles) shall be from the date of the meeting 
at which they are elected or appointed until the second anniversary of their election, 
or until their successors are elected or appointed.  No Director shall serve for more 
than four (4) consecutive terms except that a Director may serve a fifth two-year term 
in the event the individual is assuming the office of Past Chair.  

If permitted by the Act, the number of Directors shall be determined from time-to-time 
by a special resolution of the Members.  If permitted by the Act, the Members may 
pass a special resolution to permit the Directors to determine the number of Directors. 
In the absence of a special resolution by the Members, the number of Directors shall 
be at least twelve (12) and no more than eighteen (18).  

Every individual who is elected to be a Director shall become a Member within ten (10) 
days of becoming a Director. 

2.02 Vacancies  

The office of a Director shall be vacated immediately:  

1. if the Director resigns office by written notice to the secretary, which resignation 
shall be effective at the time it is received by the secretary or at the time specified 
in the notice, whichever is later; 

2. if the Director dies or becomes bankrupt; 

3. if the Director is found to be incapable of managing property by a court or under 
Ontario law;  



 
 
 

4. if the Director becomes an Excluded Person; or 

5. if, at a meeting of the Members, a resolution is passed by at least a majority of 
the votes cast by the Members removing the Director before the expiration of the 
Director’s term of office. 

2.03 Filling Vacancies 

A vacancy on the Board shall be filled as follows: 

1. a quorum of Directors may fill a vacancy among the Directors; 

2. if there is not a quorum of Directors or there has been a failure to elect the 
minimum number of Directors in accordance with section 2.01 above, or as set 
out in the Articles, if applicable, the Directors in office shall, without delay, call a 
special meeting of Members to fill the vacancy and, if they fail to call such a 
meeting, the meeting may be called by any Member; 

3. if the vacancy occurs as a result of the Members removing a Director, the 
Members may fill the vacancy by a majority vote and any Director elected to fill 
the vacancy shall hold office for the remainder of the removed Director’s term; 
and 

4. the Board may fill any other vacancy by a majority vote, and the appointee shall 
hold office for the remainder of the unexpired portion of the term of the vacating 
Director.  After that, the appointee shall be eligible to be elected as a Director.  

2.04 Committees 

Committees may be established by the Board as follows: 

1. The Board may establish an Executive Committee comprised only of persons 
who are members of the Board. The Executive Committee shall have the 
delegated authority on an ad hoc basis to exercise all of the powers of the Board 
to the extent permitted by applicable law provided that, at all times, it is subject in 
its entirety to the control and supervision of the Board.  The Executive Committee, 
if established, shall consist of a minimum of five (5) Directors as determined by 
the Board from time to time, including the current Chair of the Board who shall 
also be the chair of the Executive Committee.  

2. The Board may appoint from their number a managing Director or a committee of 
Directors and may delegate to the managing Director or committee any of the 



 
 
 

powers of the Directors excepting those powers set out in the Act that are not 
permitted to be delegated; and 

3. Subject to the limitations on delegation set out in the Act, the Board may establish 
any committee it determines necessary for the execution of the Board’s 
responsibilities.  The Board shall determine the composition and terms of 
reference for any such committee.  The Board may dissolve any committee by 
resolution at any time. 

2.05 Standing Committees 

The following Committees shall be Standing Committees of the Corporation and shall 
be constituted and maintained unless the Members pass a resolution to dissolve the 
Committee: 

Governance and Nominating Committee:  

The Governance and Nominating Committee shall be composed of at least three 
members, two of whom shall be Directors.  The Governance and Nominating 
Committee shall be charged with preparing a slate of recommended nominees for 
director positions that become vacant at the next annual meeting of the Corporation.  
The Governance and Nominating Committee shall also be charged with 
recommending to the Directors appropriate individuals to be appointed as members 
of the Committees.  The Governance and Nominating Committee shall meet as often 
as required to fulfill its mandate.  The Chair of the Governance and Nominating 
Committee shall be a Director. 

Finance and Audit Committee  

The Finance and Audit Committee shall be comprised of at least three members, 
three of whom shall be Directors, a majority of whom are not employees or officers 
of the corporation. The Finance and Audit Committee shall be charged with assisting 
the financial oversight responsibilities of the Board. The Finance and Audit 
Committee shall meet as often as required to fulfill its mandate. The Chair of the 
Finance and Audit Committee shall be a Director. 

Collections Committee 

The Collections Committee shall be composed of at least three members, two of 
whom shall be Directors.  The Collections Committee shall be charged with the 
responsibility for making determinations on new acquisitions, recommending 
deaccessions to the Board, collections planning and other activities related to the 



 
 
 

museum’s Collection. The Collections Committee shall meet as often as required to 
fulfill its mandate. The Chair of the Collections Committee shall be a Director. 
 
Philanthropy Committee 
 
The Philanthropy Committee shall be composed of at least three members, two of 
whom shall be Directors. The Philanthropy Committee shall be charged with 
developing and implementing policies and plans and providing strategic guidance 
and support to ensure the fiscal health of the organization and create a culture of 
philanthropy within the organization. The Philanthropy Committee shall meet as often 
as required to fulfill its mandate. The Chair of the Philanthropy Committee shall be a 
Director. 

 
2.06 Remuneration of Directors 

The Directors shall serve as such without remuneration and no Director shall directly 
or indirectly receive any profit from occupying the position of Director; provided that 
Directors shall be reimbursed for reasonable expenses they incur in the performance 
of their Directors’ duties; 

2.07 Duties & Responsibilities of Directors 

1.  Every Director of the Corporation in exercising their powers and discharging their 
duties shall: 

(a) act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the 
Corporation; and 

(b) exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would 
exercise in comparable circumstances. 

2.  Every Director shall abide by the by-laws, policies, procedures and decisions that 
the Board has adopted. 

3.  Every Director shall respect and maintain the confidentiality of all matters brought 
before the Board or before any Committee.    

  Section 3 - Board Meetings 
 
3.01 Calling of Meetings 
 



 
 
 

Meetings of the Directors may be called by the Chair, president or any two Directors 
at any time and any place on notice as required by section 3.03. 
 
3.02 Regular Meetings  

The Board may fix the place and time of regular Board meetings and send a copy of 
the resolution fixing the place and time of such meetings to each Director, and no other 
notice shall be required for any such meetings. 

3.03 Notice  

Notice of the time and place for the holding of a meeting of the Board shall be given in 
the manner provided in Section 10 of this by-law to every Director of the Corporation 
not less than seven (7) days before the date that the meeting is to be held. Notice of 
a meeting is not necessary if all of the Directors are present, and none objects to the 
holding of the meeting, or if those absent have waived notice or have otherwise 
signified their consent to the holding of such meeting.   If a quorum of Directors is 
present, each newly elected or appointed Board may, without notice, hold its first 
meeting immediately following the annual meeting of the Corporation. 

3.04 Chair 

The Chair shall preside at Board meetings in person, or by way of Tele-conference or 
Video-conference.  In the absence of the Chair, the Directors present shall choose one 
of their number to act as the Chair.  The Chair shall be appointed by the Board from 
among the Directors for, subject as hereinafter set out, one two-year term, provided, 
however, that after a person not serving as Chair for a minimum of two years, such 
person may again serve as the Chair of the Board for a further two-year term.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the person who has served as Chair of the Board for a 
two-year term, may serve as Chair for additional one-year consecutive terms provided 
that prior to the beginning of each additional consecutive term, the Board has 
authorized same by a resolution passed by a minimum of three quarters of the votes 
cast at a meeting of Directors.   

3.05 Voting 

Each Director has one vote.  Questions arising at any Board meeting shall be decided 
by a majority of votes.  The Chair shall be entitled to participate and vote at the 
meetings of the Board.  In case of an equality of votes, the motion shall be deemed 
not to have passed and the Chair shall not have a second or casting vote.   

At any meeting unless a poll is demanded, a declaration by the Chair that a resolution 
has been carried or carried unanimously or by a particular majority or lost or not carried 



 
 
 

by a particular majority shall be prima facia evidence of the fact without proof of the 
number or proportion of votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution. 

3.06 Participation by Telephone or Other Communications Facilities 

If all of the Directors of the Corporation consent, a Director may participate in a meeting 
of the Board or of a committee of Directors by Teleconference and/or 
Videoconference. A Director participating by such means is deemed to be present at 
that meeting. 

3.07 Quorum 

Quorum for the transaction of business at a meeting of the Directors shall be a simple 
majority of the number of members of the Board.   

3.08 Error or Omission in Giving Notice  

No error or accidental omission, which occurs in good faith, in giving notice of any 
meeting of Directors shall invalidate such meeting or make void any proceeding taken 
at such meeting. 

3.09 Unanimous Resolutions 

Any by-law or resolution signed by all the Directors shall be as valid and effective as if 
passed at a meeting of the Directors duly called, constituted and held for that purpose.   

3.10 Adjournment 
 
Any meeting of Directors may be adjourned from time to time by the chair of the 

meeting, with the consent of the meeting, to a fixed time and place. Notice of any 

adjourned meeting of Directors is not required to be given if the time and place of the 

adjourned meeting is announced at the original meeting. Any adjourned meeting shall 

be duly constituted if held in accordance with the terms of the adjournment and a 

quorum present thereat. The Directors who formed a quorum at the original meeting 

are not required to form the quorum at the adjourned meeting. If there is no quorum 

present at the adjourned meeting, the original meeting shall be deemed to have 

terminated forthwith after its adjournment. Any business may be brought before or 

dealt with at any adjourned meeting which might have been brought before or dealt 

with at the original meeting in accordance with the notice calling the same. 



 
 
 

 

Section 4 – Financial 
 
4.01     Banking 

The Board shall by resolution from time to time designate the bank in which the money, 
bonds or other securities of the Corporation shall be placed for safekeeping. 

4.02      Financial Year 

The financial year of the Corporation ends on December 31st in each year or on such 
other date as the Board may from time to time by resolution determine. 

4.03  Expenditures 
 
The Board shall have power to authorize expenditures on behalf of the Corporation 
from time to time and may delegate, by resolution to an officer or officers of the 
Corporation, the right to employ and pay salaries to employees. The Board shall have 
the power to make expenditures for the purpose of furthering the objects of the 
Corporation. The Board shall have the power to enter into a trust arrangement with a 
trust company or bank for the purpose of creating a trust fund in which the capital and 
interest may be made available for the benefit of promoting the interest of the 
Corporation in accordance with such terms as the Board may prescribe. 
 
4.04 Borrowing Power 
 

The Board of the Corporation may from time to time: 
 

(a) borrow money on the credit of the Corporation; 
 

(b) issue, sell or pledge debt obligations (including bonds, 
debentures, debenture stock, notes or other like 
liabilities whether secured or unsecured) of the 
Corporation; 

 
(c) charge, mortgage, hypothecate or pledge all or any 

currently owned or subsequently acquired real or 
personal, movable or immovable property of the 
Corporation, including book debts, rights, powers, 
franchises and undertakings, to secure any debt 
obligations or any money borrowed, or other debts or 
liabilities of the Corporation; and 

 
(d) delegate the powers conferred on the Board under 

this paragraph to such officer or officers of the 



 
 
 

Corporation and to such extent and in such manner 
as the Directors shall determine 

 
The powers hereby conferred shall be deemed to be in supplement of and not in substitution 
for any powers to borrow money for the purposes of the Corporation possessed by its Directors 
or officers independently of this Bylaw. 
 
  Section 5 – Officers 
 
5.01 Officers 

The Board shall appoint from among the Directors a Chair and may appoint any other 
person to be president, treasurer and secretary at its first meeting following the annual 
meeting of the Corporation.  The office of treasurer and secretary may be held by the 
same person and may be known as the secretary-treasurer. The office of Chair and 
president may also be held by the same person. The Board may appoint such other 
Officers and agents as it deems necessary, and who shall have such authority and 
shall perform such duties as the Board may prescribe from time to time. 

5.02 Office Held at Board’s Discretion  

Any Officer shall cease to hold office upon resolution of the Board. 

5.03 Duties 

Officers shall be responsible for the duties assigned to them and they may delegate to 
others the performance of any or all of such duties. 

5.04 Duties of the Chair 

The Chair shall perform the duties described in sections 3.04 and 9.05 and such other 
duties as may be required by law or as the Board may determine from time to time. 

  Section 6 - Protection of Directors and Others 
 
6.01 Protection of Directors and Officers 

No Director, Officer or committee member of the Corporation shall be liable for the 
acts, neglects or defaults of any other Director, Officer, committee member or 
employee of the Corporation or for joining in any receipt or for any loss, damage or 
expense happening to the Corporation through the insufficiency or deficiency of title to 
any property acquired by resolution of the Board or for or on behalf of the Corporation 
or for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security in or upon which any of the money 
of or belonging to the Corporation shall be placed out or invested or for any loss or 



 
 
 

damage arising from the bankruptcy, insolvency or tortious act of any person, firm or 
Corporation with whom or which any moneys, securities or effects shall be lodged or 
deposited or for any other loss, damage or misfortune whatever which may happen in 
the execution of the duties of his or her respective office or trust provided that they 
have: 

1. complied with the Act, the Articles and By-laws; and 

2. exercised their powers and discharged their duties in accordance with the Act. 

  Section 7 - Conflict of Interest 
 
7.01 Conflict of Interest 

A Director who is in any way directly or indirectly interested in a contract or transaction, 
or proposed contract or transaction, with the Corporation shall make the disclosure 
required by the Act.  Except as provided by the Act, no such Director shall attend any 
part of a meeting of Directors or vote on any resolution to approve any such contract 
or transaction.  

Section 8 – Members 
 
8.01 Members 
Membership in the Corporation shall be available to those individuals who are interested 

in furthering the purposes of the Corporation.  Directors shall also be Members of the 

Corporation.  Subject to the Articles, there shall be one (1) class of Members in the 

Corporation which shall consist of such individuals who have attained the age of eighteen 

(18) years and have completed an application for membership that has been approved 

and have paid the required fee as determined by the Board from time to time.  Each 

Member shall be entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at all meetings of the 

Members of the Corporation.   

8.02 Membership 

A membership in the Corporation is not transferable and automatically terminates if 
the Member resigns or such membership is otherwise terminated in accordance with 
the Act. 

Unless terminated earlier, the Term of a Membership is one (1) year. 



 
 
 

8.03 Dues 

The Board of Directors shall set the membership dues, if any, which shall be payable by 

the Members.  Members shall be notified in writing of the membership dues at any time 

payable by them and if any Member fails to pay the dues owing before the annual 

Members’ Meeting following the receipt of the notice then that Member shall 

automatically cease to be a Member of the Corporation.  Subject to the Act, the Directors 

may set Membership Dues at different levels according to criteria established by the 

Directors, including age of Member and/or status as a student.   

 
  Section 9 - Members’ Meetings 
 
9.01 Annual Meeting 

The annual meeting shall be held on a day and at a place fixed by the Board. Any 
Member, upon request, shall be provided, not less than 21 days before the annual 
meeting, with a copy of the approved financial statements, auditor’s report or review 
engagement report and other financial information required by the Act, By-laws and/or 
Articles. 

The business transacted at the annual meeting shall include: 

1. receipt of the agenda; 

2. receipt of the minutes of the previous annual and subsequent special meetings; 

3. consideration of the financial statements; 

4. report of the auditor or person who has been appointed to conduct a review 
engagement; 

5. reappointment or new appointment of the auditor or a person to conduct a review 
engagement for the coming year; 

6. election of Directors; and 

7. such other or special business as may be set out in the notice of meeting. 



 
 
 

No other business shall be included on the agenda for an annual meeting except a 
Member’s proposal that complies with the Act and is submitted by a Member to the 
Secretary of the Corporation prior to the giving of the notice of the annual meeting, so 
that such item of business can be included in the notice of annual meeting. 

9.02 Special Meetings 
 
The Directors may call a special meeting of the Members.  The Board shall convene 
a special meeting on written requisition of not less than one-tenth of the Members for 
any purpose connected with the affairs of the Corporation that does not fall within the 
exceptions listed in the Act or is otherwise inconsistent with the Act, within 21 days 
from the date of the deposit of the requisition. 
 
9.03 Notice 

Subject to the Act, not less than 10 and not more than 50 days’ written notice of any 
annual or special Members’ meeting shall be given in the manner specified in the Act 
to each Member and to the auditor or person appointed to conduct a review 
engagement.  Notice of any meeting where special business will be transacted must 
contain sufficient information to permit the Members to form a reasoned judgment on 
the decision to be taken.  Notice of each meeting must remind the Member of the right 
to vote by proxy. 

9.04 Quorum 

A quorum for the transaction of business at a Members’ meeting is the lower of 10% 
of the Members entitled to vote at the meeting or twenty Members, whether present in 
person or by proxy. If a quorum is present at the opening of a meeting of the Members, 
the Members present may proceed with the business of the meeting, even if a quorum 
is not present throughout the meeting. 

9.05 Chair of the Meeting 

The Chair shall be the chair of the Members’ meeting; in the Chair’s absence, the 
Members present at any Members’ meeting shall choose another Director as chair and 
if no Director is present or if all of the Directors present decline to act as chair, the 
Members present shall choose one of their number to chair the meeting. 

9.06 Voting of Members 

Business arising at any Members’ meeting shall be decided by a majority of votes 
unless otherwise required by the Act or the By-law provided that: 



 
 
 

1. each Member shall be entitled to one vote at any meeting; 

2. meetings may be held in person, virtually or a hybrid of the two; 

3. Members may vote by proxy, mail-in ballot or an electronic vote; 

4. votes shall be taken by a show of hands among all Members present and the 
chair of the meeting, if a Member, shall have a vote; 

5. an abstention shall not be considered a vote cast; 

6. before or after a show of hands has been taken on any question, the chair of the 
meeting may require, or any Member may demand, a written ballot.  A written 
ballot so required or demanded shall be taken in such manner as the chair of the 
meeting shall direct; 

7. if there is a tie vote, the chair of the meeting shall require a written ballot and shall 
not have a second or casting vote.  If there is a tie vote upon written ballot, the 
motion is lost; and 

8. whenever a vote by show of hands is taken on a question, unless a written ballot 
is required or demanded, a declaration by the chair of the meeting that a 
resolution has been carried or lost and an entry to that effect in the minutes shall 
be conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of 
votes recorded in favour of or against the motion. 

9.07 Adjournments 
 
The Chair may, with the majority consent of any Members’ meeting, adjourn the same 
from time to time and no notice of such adjournment need be given to the Members, 
unless the meeting is adjourned by one or more adjournments for an aggregate of 30 
days of more.  Any business may be brought before or dealt with at any adjourned 
meeting which might have been brought before or dealt with at the original meeting in 
accordance with the notice calling the same. 
 
9.08 Persons Entitled to be Present 

The only persons entitled to attend a Members’ meeting are the Members, the 
Directors, the auditors of the Corporation (or the person who has been appointed to 
conduct a review engagement, if any) and others who are entitled or required under 
any provision of the Act or the Articles to be present at the meeting.  Any other person 



 
 
 

may be admitted only if invited by the Chair of the meeting or with the majority consent 
of the Members present at the meeting. 

  Section 10 – Notices 
 
10.01 Service 

Any notice required to be sent to any Member or Director or to the auditor or person 
who has been appointed to conduct a review engagement shall be delivered 
personally, or sent by prepaid mail, facsimile, email or other electronic means to any 
such Member or Director at their latest address as shown in the records of the 
Corporation and to the auditor or the person who has been appointed to conduct a 
review engagement at its business address, or if no address be given then to the last 
address of such Member or Director known to the secretary; provided always that 
notice may be waived or the time for the notice may be waived or abridged at any time 
with the consent in writing of the person entitled thereto. 

10.02 Computation of Time 
 
Where a given number of days’ notice or notice extending over any period is required 
to be given, the day of service or posting of the notice shall not, unless it is otherwise 
provided, be counted in such number of days or other period. 
 
10.03 Error or Omission in Giving Notice 

No error or accidental omission in giving notice of any Board meeting or any 
Members’ meeting shall invalidate the meeting or make void any proceedings taken 
at the meeting. 

  Section 11 - Adoption and Amendment of By-laws 
 
11.01 Amendments to By-laws 

The Members may from time to time amend this by-law by a majority of the votes cast. 
The Board may from time to time in accordance with the Act pass or amend this by-
law other than a provision respecting the transfer of a membership or to change the 
method of voting by members not in attendance at a meeting of members. Board 
changes to this by-law must be confirmed by the Members at the next meeting. If the 
Members reject the changes to this by-law then the change is not effective.  

11.02 Repeal of Prior By-law and Effective Date 



 
 
 

This by-law shall come into force when confirmed by the Members of the Corporation by 
ordinary resolution.    

Enacted this          day of                            , 2024. 
 
 
________________                    ________________ 
President                                      Secretary 


	2024 AGM Notice of Meeting Package.pdf
	Agenda for 2024 AGM.pdf
	AGM Proxy Form 2024.pdf
	Annual and General Meeting Proxy
	The undersigned _____________________________________, a Member
	of The Canadian Canoe Museum (the Museum) hereby appoints
	____________________________________________________________
	or, failing him/her, Tim Rutherford, the Secretary of the Museum, to attend, vote, and act for and on behalf of the undersigned at the Annual and General Meeting of the members of the Museum, to be held on Wednesday, June 26th, 2024 (the meeting).
	This appointment may be revoked by the undersigned at any time prior to the commencement of the meeting and will be deemed to have been revoked by a subsequent completed proxy or if the undersigned attends the meeting.
	This proxy must be signed and dated by the Member, or, if the Member is a corporation, the form of proxy must be executed under its corporate seal, or by an officer or attorney thereof duly authorized.
	Dated this _______ day of _______________, 2024.
	___________________________________  ___________________________________
	Name of Member (Please Print)         Signature of Member
	Please return the completed proxy by email (info@canoemuseum.ca), fax (705-748-0616) or by mail to:
	The Canadian Canoe Museum
	ATTN: Tim Rutherford, Secretary
	2077 Ashburnham Drive
	Peterborough, Ontario K9L 1P8

	AGM 2023 Minutes DRAFT.pdf
	The Canadian Canoe Museum Annual & General Meeting  Meeting Minutes Wednesday April 19th, 2023 6:00pm
	Held via Zoom

	2023 Financial Statements - The Canadian Canoe Museum.pdf
	Bylaw Amendments.pdf
	Canoe Museum Draft By-laws June 5, 2024.pdf
	GENERAL OPERATING BY-LAW
	OF
	THE CANADIAN CANOE MUSEUM
	BY-LAW NO. 1
	Section 1 – General
	Section 2 – Directors
	Section 3 - Board Meetings
	Section 4 – Financial


	4.03  Expenditures
	4.04 Borrowing Power
	Section 5 – Officers
	Section 6 - Protection of Directors and Others
	Section 7 - Conflict of Interest
	Section 8 – Members
	The Board of Directors shall set the membership dues, if any, which shall be payable by the Members.  Members shall be notified in writing of the membership dues at any time payable by them and if any Member fails to pay the dues owing before the annu...

	Section 9 - Members’ Meetings
	Section 10 – Notices
	Section 11 - Adoption and Amendment of By-laws
	11.02 Repeal of Prior By-law and Effective Date




	Board Nominations & Renewals 2024.docx.pdf



